2006

John J. Bradley and Darby G. Bradley v. Douglas J. Markham and Andrea Markham: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court apply the correct legal standard in determining whether the Bradleys breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing?**

Standard of Review: The standard of review for determining whether the trial court applied the correct legal standard for a breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims is the correction of error standard. In *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, the Utah Supreme Court determined that a standard of review question is not always black and white (or correctness vs. clearly erroneous). There is a continuum between the clearly erroneous and correctness of error standards. Questions of fact (involving events, actions, or conditions happening, existing, or taking place) are reviewed for clear error and questions of law (rules or principles uniformly applied to persons of similar qualities and status in similar circumstances) are reviewed for correctness. The issue of whether the trial court applied the correct legal standard in its good faith analysis is closer to a question of fact because the scope of the duty to act in good faith is defined by common-law principles, and the terms of an unambiguous contract—both questions of law. Subjective factual issues such as parties' intent and expectations could be involved in the question, but are not presented in the case at bar because the parties did not make any statements of intent regarding the amount of discretion a seller has when reviewing a buyers credit pursuant to the SFA.

Issue Preserved at: R. 399; TT 405:12 through 408:14.

- 2. Did the trial court err in failing to grant the Bradleys' motion for directed verdict at the close of Plaintiff's case?**

Standard of Review: The standard of review for a denial of a directed verdict is the same for the reviewing court as it is for the trial court. *Merino v. Albertsons, Inc.*, 975 P.2d 467, 468 (Utah 1999) (motion for directed verdict can be granted only when the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law).

Issue Preserved at: R. 250:13 through 255:6

- 3. Did the trial court erroneously conclude that the Bradleys waived their right to strictly enforce the September 13 financial disclosure deadline?**

Standard of Review: Whether a trial court applied the correct legal standard in an analysis of "waiver" is a pure question of law. However, the actions or events allegedly supporting waiver are factual in nature, thus a reviewing court must grant "broadened discretion to the trial court's [factual] findings." *United Park City Mines Co. v. Stichting Mayflower Mountain Fonds*, 2006 UT 35, ¶ 21, 140 P.3d 1200.

Issue Preserved at: R. 392-398; TT 405:1-4.

- 4. Did the trial court erroneously conclude that the Bradleys were estopped from strictly enforcing the September 13 deadline?**

Standard of Review: Estoppel is a highly fact-specific question that an appellate court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard. *State, Dept. of Human Services ex rel. Parker v. Irizarry*, 893 P.2d 1107, 1108-09. (Utah 1995).

Issue Preserved at: R. 392-398; TT 405:1-4.

5. Did the trial court err in ordering specific performance?

Standard of Review: Specific performance is a discretionary ruling that a reviewing court examines under an abuse of discretion standard. *Shields v. Harris*, 934 P.2d 653, 655 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Issue Preserved at: R. 395-397.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. **Nature of the Case.** This case involves the enforcement of “specific performance” in relation to a Real Estate Purchase Contract between Defendants/Appellants John J. Bradley (“Mr. Bradley”) and Darby G. Bradley (“Mrs. Bradley”) and Plaintiffs/Appellees, Douglas J. Markham (“Mr. Markham”) and Andrea Markham aka Andrea Gasporra (“Mrs. Markham”).

The Bradleys were owners of on which the Bradleys had built a 3,000-square-foot log house-style home (the “Property”). The Bradleys listed their real property located in Dammeron Valley through Red Desert Realty in June 2003. Mrs. Bradley, a licensed real estate agent was the listing agent. Ms. Carolyn Norton (“Ms. Norton”), agent for the Markhams ultimately prepared a REPC after the Bradleys agreed to sell the Property at the price of Five Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$550,000.00). Mr. Bradley insisted that any sale would be partially seller-financed to allow the Bradleys to utilize certain tax advantages. Along with the REPC, Mr. Bradley also received the Seller Financing Addendum (“SFA”) to the REPC. However, Ms. Norton did not present the Buyer Financial Information Sheet (as required by Section 8 of the SFA to the REPC) at that time.

On September 2, 2004, the Bradleys made a written counteroffer. The principal terms of the REPC ultimately included a purchase price of \$550,000.00 with a down

payment of \$285,000.00, earnest money to be increased to \$10,000.00. Pursuant to the SFA, the Bradleys were to finance \$265,000.00 at a rate of 5.5% per annum. Ms. Norton set up a time for the Markhams and other individuals to visit the Property on September 12, 2004 to discuss various outstanding matters and to present certain financial information that was to be delivered by September 13. Specifically, Section 8 of the SFA required the Markhams to present a credit report by the Seller Disclosure Deadline referred to in Section 24(b) of the REPC (September 13, 2004).

During the September 12, 2004 meeting, Mr. Bradley appeared agitated and tired. Although he allowed the parties to enter the home, Mr. Bradley indicated that he did not wish to discuss any of the financial issues or review the documents presented by the Markhams. Ms. Norton responded that the Markhams had certain financial information (presumably the information required by Section 7 of the SFA) to present. Mr. Bradley, responded that it was not a good time to discuss matters and did not review the documents. Although Mr. Bradley inquired whether the discussion could be had in a “couple of weeks,” Ms. Norton never affirmed this, nor did she prepare any writing to extend the relevant deadlines in the REPC and SFA.

Ms. Norton admitted at trial that her clients did not have a credit report to present on September 12, 2004. After leaving the Property, Ms. Norton called her assistant, who mistakenly told Ms. Norton that the Markhams had until *September 30, 2004* to submit the financial information.

On September 13, 2004, Mr. Bradley prepared and submitted to Ms. Norton by fax the Seller’s Property Disclosure information. After returning from Washington, Mrs. Bradley drafted a letter dated September 20, 2004 to Ms. Norton and informed her of their intent to

declare the REPC null and void due to the Markham's failure to timely provide their Credit Report, Buyer Financial Information Sheet, and supporting documentation. After several telephone calls and letters, the Bradleys finally received the Credit Report and financial information on September 27, 2004.

On or about September 30, 2004, Mr. Bradley received a fax from Ms. Norton's office forwarding a letter from Countrywide Home Loans indicating that the Markhams had qualified for third-party financing to complete the purchase of the home.

Despite the threats of litigation, the Bradleys agreed to receive and review the Markham's financial documents and Credit Report and discovered several items of concern related to the Markham's credit-worthiness. The financial documents revealed that there had been a bankruptcy and judgment in the Markhams' past. Furthermore, in reviewing the credit report, the Bradleys discovered several delinquencies on the accounts and the amount of credit currently being held, which gave rise to additional concerns about the Markhams' credit-worthiness. Despite the Markhams' claims of having all the necessary documentation with them at the meeting on September 12, 2004, the date on the Credit Report proves that the Markhams did not request the Credit Report until September 20, 2004—eight (8) days after the Markhams met with Mr. Bradley to provide the financial documentation as required by the REPC. Furthermore, the actual Personal Financial Statement that was going to be presented on September 12, 2004 was approximately one year old.

Following their review of the Markham's financial documents and Credit Report, the Bradleys, pursuant to Section 8.1 of the SFA, and on the advice of their attorney, Robert Jensen, canceled the REPC in a letter dated October 4, 2004. Shortly thereafter, this lawsuit was commenced with the Markhams seeking specific performance under the terms of the

REPC and asserting that the Bradleys breached the REPC as well as the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The Bradleys defense was that the Markhams themselves were estopped from asserting breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing because the Markhams had failed to fully perform their obligations under the contract. The Bradleys also asserted that they acted in good faith and within the parameters of discretion in canceling the REPC based upon the unsatisfactory quality and content of the Markhams' credit report and financial information.

After a bench trial, the trial court ruled that the Bradleys had breached the REPC and the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The trial court ordered specific performance of the terms in the REPC and forced the Bradleys to sell the Property. The Markahms were also awarded their attorney's fees and costs. The Bradleys filed post-trial motions including a Rule 62 and a Rule 52(b) motion, both of which were denied.

II. Course of Proceedings. A two-day bench trial was held on January 24 and 25, 2006. The trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law [R. 267] were entered on March 14, 2006. The Final Judgment and Order was entered April 17, 2006 [R. 326]. The Bradleys filed a Rule 62 Motion on April 27, 2006 [R. 376], a Rule 59 Motion on May 1, 2006 [R.403], and a Rule 52(b) Motion on May, 1, 2006 [R. 415]. The trial court denied the Bradleys' post-trial motions in a Summary Ruling on Pending Motions on August 3, 2006 [R. 795]. On November 2, 2006, the Bradleys timely filed a Notice of Appeal. [R.866].

III. Disposition at trial court. The Markhams' principal claim as set forth in their complaint [R. 117] was for specific performance of the terms of the REPC based upon theories of breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. In the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the trial court ruled that judgment

should be entered against the Bradleys and in favor of the Markhams for specific performance, and that the Markhams were to be awarded their attorneys' fees and costs as permitted by Section 17 of the REPC. [R. 294]. Finally, the trial court ordered that \$30,000.00 held in escrow out of the sales price of the Property to cover the cost of removing rock and dirt and restoring the Property to its original condition. [R. 283].

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Markhams became interested in the Washington County area for a second home and possible early retirement area. [R. 268].
2. The Markhams hired real estate agents Ms. Norton and Mr. Stuart Shumway ("Shumway") to assist them in locating properties in Washington County. [R. 268].
3. On Friday, August 27, 2004, Ms. Ms. Norton took the Markhams out to show them the Washington area generally and, after viewing many properties, saw a "for sale" sign on the property located at 979 North Dammeron Valley Drive. [R. 269].
4. The Markhams immediately liked the Property and asked Ms. Norton to obtain more information about it. [R. 269].
5. By the next day (Saturday, August 28, 2004), Ms. Norton had pulled up the Multiple Listing Service ("MLS") information for the Property and saw that it was listed with an "owner/agent," Mrs. Bradley. [R. 269].
6. Ms. Norton called the number for Mrs. Bradley shown in the MLS printout, and Mr. Bradley, the co-owner, answered the phone. He stated that Mrs. Bradley was out of town, but that he could show the Property and home and agreed to show the home that Saturday morning. [R. 269].

7. On August 28, 2004, Ms. Norton and the Markhams went to the Property and met Mr. Bradley. [R. 269].
8. While doing the walk-through, Mr. Bradley told the Markhams and Ms. Norton that his wife was out of town and that all contact regarding the Property should be directed through him and that he would pass all information and required documents on to Mrs. Bradley. [R. 269].
9. Mr. Bradley escorted them through the house, showing them the improvements he was making, including some remodeling of the kitchen. He stated that he was a builder and did new home construction under the name of Pride Homes. [R. 269].
10. The Markhams spent well over an hour at the Property with Mr. Bradley. While there:
 - a. Ms. Norton asked the price, to which Mr. Bradley replied that it was listed at \$650,000.00, but they were willing to take \$550,000.00.
 - b. Mr. Bradley pulled out a map of the Property, and showed them the boundaries of the Property and that it was already sub-divided into three parcels.
 - c. Mr. Bradley also stated he was willing to sell some of the special-order furniture in the home.
 - d. The Markhams told Mr. Bradley that they were interested in building one or two more homes for Mr. Markham's retiring brother and to allow his mother to live close as well.
 - e. Mr. Bradley gave Mr. Markham his business card showing his business name and phone number. [R. 270].

11. While at the Property that day, the Markhams developed an appreciation for the Property and its unique characteristics. [R. 270].
12. After the first walk-through and after the Markhams returned to California. Mr. Markham then called Mr. Bradley on or about August 30, 2004 telling him that they wanted to buy the Property and asking what the Bradleys wanted for the Property. [R. 270].
13. The parties agreed that the Property would be sold for \$550,000.00 [R. 271].
14. Mr. Bradley also stated he needed \$265,000.00 down in order to buy out a partner, and that the Bradleys could carry the balance as seller financiers. [R. 271].
15. After their phone conversations, Mr. Markham called Ms. Norton to have her prepare a written offer in the form of a Real Estate Purchase Contract (“REPC”) [Attached hereto as Addendum “1”]¹ consistent with the terms Mr. Bradley and Mr. Markham had discussed. [R. 271].
16. As Mr. Markham and Ms. Norton discussed the terms of the REPC, they agreed to include a “no prepayment penalty” and an interest rate of 5.5% on the seller-financed amount. [R. 271].
17. The REPC prepared by Ms. Norton set forth a total purchase price of \$550,000.00, with \$265,000.00 cash due at closing, while permitting seller financing of \$285,000.00 at 5.5% interest on a 15-year term, requiring a \$100,000.00 balloon payment at the end of the first year, and utilizing the standard Seller Financing Addendum. It also provided for the

¹ All addenda provided in support of this brief are duplicates of documents that were submitted and accepted at trial. During trial, most of documents were submitted as “tab1,” “tab 2” (etc.) to Exhibit 1. Exhibit 1 ultimately included 19 documents whose admissibility was stipulated to. For ease of reference, addenda shall merely be designated and attached in numerical order (i.e. Addendum “1,” Addendum “2,” etc.). Also, Addendum “1” contains a duplicate copy of the REPC and SFA because the first copy is more legible, but the second copy is countersigned.

parties to meet in early September to discuss remodeling issues and finalize what furniture would stay with the house. [R. 272].

18. Ms. Norton and Shumway presented the written REPC offer to Mr. Bradley at one of his construction job sites. Ms. Norton asked how they could contact Mrs. Bradley to present the written REPC offer to her, and Mr. Bradley told Ms. Norton that Mrs. Bradley was in Bellingham, Washington. [R. 272].

19. Mr. Bradley again affirmed that he would be handling the paperwork, as it was very difficult to contact Mrs. Bradley. However, Mr. Bradley would not give Shumway or Ms. Norton any contact information for Mrs. Bradley at that time. [R. 272].

20. Along with the REPC, Mr. Bradley also received the Seller Financing Addendum (“SFA”)² to the REPC. However, Ms. Norton did not present the Buyer Financial Information Sheet (required by Section 8 of the SFA to the REPC) at that time.

21. At the time Ms. Norton and Shumway presented the written REPC offer to Mr. Bradley, Ms. Norton discussed the SFA with Mr. Bradley and the fact that they did not have the Markhams’ financial information with the offer, but would be providing it later in whatever form the Bradleys wanted to designate. [R. 272].

22. Shortly after presenting the REPC to Mr. Bradley and after he had reviewed it with Mrs. Bradley, Mr. Bradley presented a written counteroffer back to Ms. Norton which the Bradleys had both signed requesting a \$10,000.00 earnest money payment, increasing the amount of down payment by another \$10,000.00, and reducing the amount of the seller financing to \$265,000.00. The sales price of \$550,000.00 and interest rate of 5.5%, as well as the standard terms of the Seller Financing Addendum, remained unchanged. [R. 273].

² The SFA is attached after the REPC.

23. The Markhams signed the counteroffer, and Ms. Norton called Mr. Bradley to let him know. After the REPC was fully accepted and executed, the Markhams sent a check for the \$10,000.00 earnest money deposit, which was deposited with Century 21 at the Rockies. [R. 274].

24. Ms. Norton delivered the fully signed REPC to Mr. Bradley around September 4, 2004. At this time, Ms. Norton scheduled a follow-up meeting with Mr. Bradley for September 12. [R. 274].

25. Ms. Norton set the date for September 12, 2004 because the following day, (September 13) was the deadline for producing financial information. Ms. Norton discussed the need and purposes for the meeting with the Markhams as well as with Mr. Bradley, the purposes being to go over the financial information and two of the other contingency items listed in the REPC regarding finishing the remodeling of the home and what furniture the Bradleys would want to sell along with the house, as well to go over house plans for the other two homes the Markhams wanted to build on the Property. [R. 274].

26. After presenting the REPC, Ms. Norton spoke with Mr. Bradley several times about the upcoming meeting as well as other matters. [R. 274].

27. In one of the conversations, Mr. Bradley told Ms. Norton that he wanted to extend the closing time by at least a month, as he was having trouble finishing the remodeling and would not be able to complete it in time, asking Ms. Norton to prepare an addendum for him to sign. [R. 274-275].

28. In response to Mr. Bradley's desire to extend the closing deadline, Ms. Norton received permission from the Markhams to extend the date and partially prepared an

addendum, telling Mr. Bradley that he would need to fill it out in full, sign it, and present it back to the Markhams, as it would be considered a counteroffer from the Bradleys. [R. 275].

29. During this time, prior to the September 12 meeting, there were other conversations in person and on the phone between Ms. Norton and Mr. Bradley which were cordial. [R. 275].

30. In preparing for the September 12 meeting, Ms. Norton told the Markhams to bring financial information with them. [R. 276].

31. When the Markhams arrived in St. George on September 12, they first met with Ms. Norton in her office. Mr. Markham had a briefcase from which he pulled a stack of papers with his financial information at the top of the stack. Ms. Norton saw the financial information, although she did not review it in detail at that time. [R. 276].

32. The Markhams' financial information included three months of bank statements, a blank financial statement from First California Bank, and a financial statement from September, 2003. [TT 30:22 through 31:7]. [A copy of the "Personal Financial Statement and September, 2003 financial statement that the Markhams had with them on September 12, 2004 is attached hereto as Addendum "2"].

33. During trial Ms. Norton acknowledged that Section 8 of the SFA required that the Markhams provide a current consumer credit report by the Seller Disclosure Deadline established in Section 24(b) of the REPC (i.e. September 13, 2004). [TT 188:3-21].

34. Although Ms. Norton had provided deposition testimony that the Markhams *had* a credit report with them on September 12, Ms. Norton subsequently altered her testimony and admitted she did not see a credit report during the Markhams visit on September 12. [TT 216:6 through 218:14].

35. Mr. Markham also confirmed that Ms. Norton did *not* instruct him to bring a credit report for the meeting on September 12. [TT 72:1-15].

36. Later in the afternoon, the Markhams then went to the Property with Ms. Norton, Shumway and Mr. Markham's brother, Dirk Markham, and his wife. [R. 276].

37. Arriving in the later afternoon, the Markhams found Mr. Bradley at the home in an apparently agitated mood. [R. 276].

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