2006

# John J. Bradley and Darby G. Bradley v. Douglas J. Markham and Andrea Markham: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The Bradleys' waiver of their right to receive the financial documents could not affect any deadlines imposed by the contract on the Bradleys, and the Bradleys would still have to perform under the contract according to their requirements and all associated deadlines regardless of having waived the Markhams' strict performance under the contract. There was no testimony or evidence to even suggest that the Markhams waived the Bradleys' deadline

to provide seller disclosures. The Bradleys mistakenly argue that, because they still had obligations under the contract and performed them, this Court cannot conclude that they did not want the Markhams' deadlines strictly enforced. Their argument simply does not hold water, and they point to no case law that would indicate that their waiver of the other parties' rights under the contract automatically would alleviate their duty to perform their own obligations under the contract.

In addition, the Bradleys did not ask for an extension in time to review or receive the financial documents from the Markhams. They simply refused the documents, demanding at least a couple of weeks to pass before they would accept them. Although the Bradleys had the right to require the parties to set forth in writing a specific time when the Bradleys would accept the financial documents, the Bradleys needed to elect that remedy on September 12 while the parties were together.

The trial court did evaluate the "totality of the circumstances," as the credible testimony showed. The Bradleys had canceled the listing three days prior to the September 12 meeting. Mr. Bradley had lost his temper at the time of the September 12 meeting. His lack of control over his temper was evident in court as well, which led to the trial court's conclusion that Mr. Bradley's demeanor at trial did not convey credibility. (R. 293 ¶ X). Trial testimony established that Mr. Bradley was angry, refused to accept documents that Mr. Markham pulled out of his briefcase and handed to him, and refused to talk about the financial information in any format, saying they would not do it until a couple of weeks later.

That is what was conveyed in an angry manner at the time of the meeting, and that is what was conveyed similarly at the time of trial.

The Bradleys have pointed to no credible trial testimony that contradicts the findings and conclusions. The trial court was correct in an unchallenged conclusion that “it would have been a futile act for the Markhams and their real estate agents to continue to try to present the financial information to Mr. Bradley on Monday, September 13, after his angry refusal on Sunday afternoon.” (R. 286 ¶ I). The trial court correctly applied Utah law on the subject and determined that the Markhams would not be required to do such a futile or useless or idle act in the face of Mr. Bradley’s actions. *Fitzgerald v. Corbett*, 793 P.2d 356, 359 (Utah 1990) (“tender requirement may be excused where tender would be an ‘idle ceremony’”). Moreover, separate from a waiver analysis, a contract analysis causes the same result, because “one party may not render it difficult or impossible for the other to continue performance and then take advantage of the non-performance he has caused.” *Zion’s Properties, Inc. v. Holt*, 538 P.2d 1319, 1321 (Utah 1975).

**A. The Bradleys Raise New Arguments on Appeal to Support Their Nonwaiver Argument.**

The Bradleys invent six novel and unsupportable arguments for their appeal which were not raised at trial, all in support of their claim that they did not waive the Markhams’ September 13 deadline. Of the following seven arguments the Bradleys raise, the only one raised at trial was that the contract could not be modified orally:

- (1) Undisputed facts establish that both parties performed on the contract as if there was not a waiver;

- (2) The Bradleys did not believe that Mr. Bradley's actions waived their right to rely on the September 13 deadline;
- (3) If the Bradleys had waived the deadline, it is unlikely that they would have been concerned about delivering the required disclosures to the Markhams by the September 13 deadline;
- (4) The trial court ignored the statute of frauds;
- (5) The trial court ignored that Section 14 of the REPC specifically prohibits oral modification of its terms;
- (6) Ms. Norton did not understand Mr. Bradley's actions to waive his right to rely on the September 13 deadline;
- (7) There can be no distinct, intentional waiver when uncontested evidence shows that neither party behaved in a manner consistent with waiver.

(Br. of Appellant 37–43). In their Statement of the Issues, the Bradleys claim to have preserved these arguments. (R. 392–98 and R. 881, TT 405:1–4). A review of these two locations in the Record show that the Bradleys did not preserve those arguments below.

Page 392–98 of the Record are pages from a memorandum supporting the Bradley's *post-trial* motion captioned as being brought pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 59. However, as pointed out *supra*, this post-trial motion does not preserve the issue for appeal. Furthermore, page 405, lines 1 through 4, of the trial transcript only shows that, in closing arguments, the Bradleys claimed there was no written extension as required by the contract. They did not raise any of the other points now brought on appeal.

As stated *supra*, an appellant preserves a substantive issue for appeal only if at trial the appellant (i) timely raised the issue before the trial court; (ii) specifically raised the issue in a way that the issue rises to a level of consciousness before the trial court; and (iii) introduced to the trial court supporting evidence or relevant legal authority to support the argument. The Bradleys fail each of these three requirements. They failed to give the trial court the opportunity to rule on these additional arguments. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's determination that Mr. Bradley waived the right to enforce the Markhams' September 13 deadline.

If this Court evaluates this waiver issue, the maximum amount of deference available to a mixed question of fact and law is the appropriate standard of review. Whether a party has effectuated a waiver is a mixed question of law and fact. *Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 23, 100 P.3d 1177. When reviewing mixed questions, where both findings of fact and determinations of law are at issue, the appellate court must determine the appropriate amount of deference to give to the trial court. *State v. Levin*, 2006 UT 50, ¶ 24, 144 P.3d 1096. There, the Utah Supreme Court revised its guideline to determining the proper standard of review to a three-part test:

(1) The degree of variety and complexity in the facts to which the legal rule is to be applied; (2) the degree to which a trial court's application of the legal rule relies on "facts" observed by the trial judge, "such as a witness appearance and demeanor, relevant to the application of the law that cannot be adequately reflected in the record available to appellate courts"; and (3) other policy reasons that weigh for or against granting discretion to trial courts.

*Id.* at ¶ 25.

The greater the variety among fact patterns to which the law is applied, the stronger the case for appellate deference. *Levin*, 2006 UT 50 at ¶ 26. When a variety of fact-intensive circumstances are involved, this weighs heavily against the appellate court lightly substituting its judgment for that of the trial court. *Glew v. Ohio Savings Bank*, 2007 UT 56, ¶ 19, 582 Utah Adv. Rep. 27, --- P.3d ----. In applying the second factor, “the greater the importance of the trial court’s credibility assessments, that cannot be adequately reflected in the Record, the stronger the case for appellate deference.” *Levin*, 2006 UT 50 at ¶ 26. Here, the trial court found that the Bradleys’ testimony was not credible, but was unreliable as stated above.

To apply the third factor, the appellate court must take into consideration policy factors related to the degree of deference that should be applied. *Levin*, 2006 UT 50 ¶ 26. The Utah Supreme Court held in *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 938–39 (Utah 1994), that policy factors favor appellate deference in waiver cases. For a number of years, Utah courts “developed hopelessly inconsistent elaborations on the basic statement of waiver principles.” *Id.* at 938. When it was clear that continuing to provide such elaborations was futile, the statement of the law was stripped back to its most basic form, and trial courts were told to apply it. *Id.* “The net effect was to say that waiver is a highly fact-dependent question, one that. . . cannot. . . profitably [be] reviewed de novo in every case because [the court] cannot hope to work out a coherent statement of the law through a course of. . . decisions.” *Id.* (quoting *Soter’s, Inc. v. Deseret Federal Savings & Loan Association*, 857 P.2d 935, 939 (Utah 1993)).

Because there is a wide variety of facts to which the legal rule for waiver is applied, witness credibility becomes even more critical. The Record adequately reflects the fact that the trial court found Mr. and Mrs. Bradley to be noncredible witnesses. As policy reasons suggest the need for deference to the trial court's fact-dependent analysis, this Court should give the maximum amount of deference available to the trial court's determination that the Bradleys waived their right to enforce the September 13 deadline. When that deference is combined with the unchallenged findings and trial testimony, the trial court should be affirmed.

**B. The Bradleys Have Marshaled No Evidence Suggesting the Trial Court's Findings are Incorrect.**

Because the question of waiver is so dependent on factual findings, appellants must marshal the evidence if they seek to challenge the trial court's determination. *United Park City Mines Co.*, 2006 UT 35 at ¶ 25. As discussed *supra*, the Bradleys have failed to adequately marshal the evidence.

Specifically, the Bradleys have not pointed to a single instance in the Record that contradicts the findings they challenge. For example, the trial court held that “[b]y Mr. Bradley’s statements and actions, and Mrs. Bradley’s intentional and persistent unavailability, the Bradleys intentionally waived their known right as to the September 13 deadline.” (R. 285 ¶ H). Yet the Bradleys in their appellate brief state “[u]ndisputed facts establish that both parties performed on the contract as if there was not waiver” (Br. of Appellant 42, ¶ 8). No citations from the Record are provided to support the Bradleys’ statement.

On the other hand, the trial court's conclusions are supported by the findings of fact, which were not challenged, and the trial testimony:

- a. Mrs. Bradley was out of town and all contact should be through Mr. Bradley. (R. 269 ¶ 7).
- b. Mr. Bradley said he would handle the paperwork, as Mrs. Bradley was very hard to get in touch with. (R. 272 ¶ 18).
- c. Mr. Bradley refused to give Mrs. Bradley's phone number to Ms. Norton. (R. 272 ¶ 18).
- d. Mrs. Bradley did not try to contact Ms. Norton, even after the contract was signed. (R. 273 ¶ 23).
- e. When Mr. Bradley refused the financial information, Mr. Markham put it back into his briefcase and left, knowing he would have to wait to hear from the Bradleys about when to submit it. (R. 881, TT 40:15-25).
- f. After the September 12 meeting, Ms. Norton tried to set a new appointment with Mr. Bradley by calling and visiting job sites, all to no avail. (R. 278 ¶ 41).

The other marshaled evidence actually supports the trial court's findings and conclusions. Because the Bradleys have failed to ferret out any fatal flaw in the evidence, this Court should either affirm the trial court's findings or assume that the findings are supported by clear weight of evidence.

#### **IV. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DETERMINING THAT THE BRADLEYS ARE ESTOPPED FROM STRICTLY ENFORCING THE SEPTEMBER 13 DEADLINE.**

The concept of waiver and estoppel are equitable remedies that are closely related. The trial court concluded that Mr. Bradley's actions not only amounted to waiver, but, because of his refusal to discuss finances and Mrs. Bradley's refusal to make herself available, the Bradleys would be estopped from strictly enforcing or relying on the September 13 deadline for the Markhams to produce their financial information, and that it would be inequitable to allow the Bradleys to take advantage of their own obstructive and misleading conduct. Therefore, it is appropriate for this Court to estop the Bradleys from utilizing their own bad acts to further damage the Markhams.

Estoppel, in basic terms, is applied when one of the parties later tries to contradict themselves from an earlier position taken and, within that contradiction, tries to bring about harm or injury to the other party. *Brixen v. Elton*, 777 P.2d 1039, 1043-44 (Utah App. 1989).

Here, the Bradleys later took the position on September 20 that the Markhams had not submitted the financial information before the deadline; therefore, they were canceling the contract. This was directly contrary to the Bradleys' earlier action of refusing the financial information on September 12, the day before the deadline. The Markhams reasonably relied on the Bradleys' statements that they did not want the documents at that time, so Mr. Markham put the documents back in his briefcase, returned to his home in California, and waited for the notice of the new date to submit the financial information. The Bradleys,

rather than contacting Ms. Norton or the Markhams to set a specific date, simply tried to cancel the contract.

There can be no purer example of when estoppel is critical in the field of law than the one in this case. To specifically tell another not to provide a document required under a contract because the person does not want it and then turn around and tell the other that the contract is now void because the document was not delivered simply cannot be tolerated. To uphold such action flies in the face of equity and justice, yet that is the argument the Bradleys want this Court to accept.

As previously stated, the trial court observed that Mr. Bradley likely gave false testimony at trial to fit a legal theory. Likewise, the Bradleys attempt now to ignore the Markhams' and Ms. Norton's testimony at trial and focus only on their own self-serving comments appears to be an attempt to form their trial testimony to legal arguments developed for the purposes of appeal. However, the Bradleys did not make this type of legal argument to the trial court and should not have made it on appeal.

In their Statement of the Issues, the Bradleys claim to have preserved these arguments, suggesting they were not estopped from enforcing the September 13 deadline. (R. 392–98 and R. 881, TT 405:1–4). A review of these two locations in the Record makes clear that the Bradleys have failed to preserve their arguments. Page 392–98 of the Record are pages from a memorandum supporting the Bradley's *post-trial* motion captioned as being brought pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 59. Again, Utah law is clear that raising the issue

in a post-trial motion fails to preserve the issue. Likewise, page 405, lines 1 through 4, of the trial transcript does not discuss their estoppel argument.

**V. THIS CASE IS THE PERFECT EXAMPLE OF WHY SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE IS APPROPRIATE IN REAL ESTATE CONTRACTS.**

The contract between the Markhams and the Bradleys was one for the purchase of real estate. Specific performance has long been recognized as an appropriate remedy in Utah when a seller of real property refuses to convey the property at issue to the buyer. *Kelley v. Leucadia Fin. Corp.*, 846 P.2d 1238, 1242 (Utah 1992). This is particularly true when a real estate contract specifically grants specific performance as an optional remedy. *Id.* Because specific performance sounds in equity, a court has wide discretion in formulating and applying it as a remedy. *LHIW, Inc. v. DeLorean*, 753 P.2d 961, 963 (Utah 1988).

The Bradleys claim to have preserved the issue of whether specific performance is an appropriate remedy by citing to the Record, pages 395-397, which is part of their New Trial Motion. As stated succinctly above, an issue cannot be preserved for appeal when it is brought up for the first time in a post-trial motion such as a motion for a new trial. However, even if this Court were to allow their New Trial Motion, particularly pages 395-397 of the Record, to be a sufficient basis to preserve an issue for appeal, the Bradleys do not even raise the issue of whether specific performance is an appropriate remedy under the circumstances. The term “specific performance” is not raised in their New Trial Motion. The pages to which they refer are those wherein they are arguing whether waiver was appropriately adopted by the trial court. In fact, throughout the process of trial preparation and discovery, as well as

the trial itself, the Bradleys never questioned whether specific performance was an appropriate remedy. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court regarding its ordering specific performance on that basis alone.

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